
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, 

Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact: Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
Email: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

Date: Wednesday, 10 July 2019

Dear Sir/Madam,

Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which 
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 18th July, 2019 in the Anglia Room, The 
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members

Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 
available, this will be provided, and reported to Council.

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or 
blog from this meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  
No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting 
resolves to go into private session.  However, the use of images or recordings arising 
from this is not under the Council’s control.  

Public Document Pack





Council
18 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

2. MINUTES 8 - 18
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 16 May 2019.

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration 
of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable 
pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.  Members 
are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing 
Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 19 - 20

5. LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
To receive a verbal update from Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader of the 
Council.

6. QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 
None received.

7. QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 

8. CABINET MINUTES 

a) 21 May 2019 21 - 24 

Confirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 21 May 2019.

b) 25 June 2019 25 - 27 

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 25 June 2019.

9. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 28 - 32
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting held 
on 30 May 2019.

10. PLANNING COMMITTEE 33 - 46
Confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 28 May 2019.

11. GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 47 - 54
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting held on 
5 June 2019.



Council
18 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

12. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS 55 - 57
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from 
political groups:

Appointments to Committees (please see Appendix attached): 

1. Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Committee

Labour Group Member to be appointed as a substitute (no member of 
this Joint Committee shall be appointed to the Joint Appointments & 
Disciplinary Appeals Committee) 

2. Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Appeals Committee

Labour Group Member to be appointed (no member of the Joint 
Appointments & Disciplinary Committee shall be appointed to this Joint 
Committee)

3. Governance & Audit Committee

Labour Group Member to be appointed as a substitute

4. Planning Committee

Cllr Taila Taylor and Cllr David Wickerson to be appointed as the two 
Independent Group substitutes

5. Overview & Scrutiny Commission

Cllr Bowes (as an Executive Support Member) to be removed as 
substitute
1 x Vacancy (Substitute) 

Appointments to Outside Bodies 

1. Outside Body Organisations -  to be removed: 

i. Thetford Grammar School Charity - no longer in existence 
(Current Membership: Cllr Roy Brame (to be removed);

ii. Attleborough Neighbourhood Plan Committee – no longer in 
existence and no Member appointed

2. Outside Body Appointments - Members required:

i. Health & Wellbeing Board: 
 Councillor Alison Webb to be removed and re-appointed 

as substitute
 Councillor Paul Claussen to be removed as substitute
 Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen to be appointed as the 

Council’s representative

ii. Norfolk Health Scrutiny Committee – Members required
 Cllr Peter Wilkinson to be removed due to his 

appointment on the Queen Elizabeth Hospital Trust 



Council
18 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

 Cllr Susan Dowling to be removed as substitute as the 
appointee has to be a member of the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission.  

 2 vacancies including a substitute (must be Members of 
the O&SC)

iii. Norfolk Joint Museums and Archaeology Committee: Member 
required

 1 x Vacancy (substitute)

iv. Norfolk County Playing Fields Association: Member required
 1 x Vacancy

v. Restorative Approaches Strategic Board: Member required
 Cllr Wilkinson to be removed 
 1 x Vacancy

vi. Youth Advisory Board – Membership to be increased to two:
 1 x Vacancy

13. AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION 

a) Constitution - Planning Delegations 58 - 66 

Report of Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader & Executive 
Member for Governance and Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive 
Member for Planning.

14. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
To consider passing the following resolution:

“That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraphs 1 and 2 of Schedule 12A to the Act.”

PART B – ITEM FROM WHICH THE PRESS AND THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED

15. APPOINTMENT OF AN INFORMATION GOVERNANCE OFFICER 67 - 73
Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader & Executive Member for 
Governance.

16. PUBLIC PROTECTION MANAGEMENT TEAM REVIEW 74 - 83
Report of Councillor Alison Webb, Executive Member for Housing, Health & 
Environment.

17. DIGITAL AND INNOVATION SERVICE REVIEW 84 - 92
Report of Councillor Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader & Executive Member for 
Governance and Councillor Ian Sherwood, Executive Member for Customer 
Engagement.



Council
18 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

18. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT - 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is 
of the opinion that the items(s) should be considered as a matter of 
urgency.

For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY

At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive 
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific 
questions, for example on ward issues.

DIGITAL INCLUSION PRESENTATION (TO TAKE PLACE IMMEDIATELY 
AFTER THE FULL COUNCIL MEETING)

On June 3 2019, Breckland Council launched a new service to support residents 
to get online and avoid becoming digitally excluded. A ‘Digital Champion’ from 
the Council’s Customer Contact Centre team will be working in local libraries 
and other community-based venues to speak with people with no or low digital 
skills and give them the help them need - and confidence - to make the most of 
online services.
 
The new service will replace the existing library service, which was approved by 
members to run until the end of May 2019. Learnings from this temporary 
service, which was largely put in place to help residents transition to the new 
online Universal Credit system, has shown that residents often have the 
equipment to go online but lack the confidence and skills. Between 20-80 
residents visit each library-based support session per week.
 
The new service will expand on the existing approach and provide opportunities 
to pick up a broader range of digital skills. In addition to helping people make 
use of the ‘do it online’ functions of the Council’s own website – where people 
can pay for services, report issues and submit applications 24/7 – the service 
will extend to helping people access non-council services online too, such as 
utility e-billing, booking doctor appointments online, renewing library books, 
searching for information, and more.
 
The service is part of the Council’s Customer Engagement Strategy to ensure 
nobody is left behind in an increasingly digital world.

Diversifying the venues means that a new service timetable has been drawn up, 
which differs to the library-based timetable used for the existing (old) service. 
The new timetable is as follows:
 
Monday               10am-1pm, Watton Library
                                2pm-5pm, Attleborough Library
 
Tuesday               10am-1pm, Swaffham Library
                                PM visiting rural venues surrounding Swaffham area
 
Wednesday        AM visiting rural venues surrounding Watton/Thetford areas
                                1pm-5pm, Watton Library



Council
18 July 2019

Page(s)
herewith

 
Thursday             10am-1pm, Attleborough Library
                                PM visiting rural venues surrounding Attleborough area
 
Friday                   AM visiting rural venues surrounding Dereham area

Officers will be available after the meeting so that Members can learn more 
about the Digital Inclusion Project. 



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 16 May 2019 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr S. Askew
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr T. Birt
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Miss H. Bushell
Mr T. R. Carter
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr E. Colman
Mrs H, Crane
Mrs V. Dale
Mrs S. Dowling
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr F. Eagle
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Mrs E. Grey
Mr C. Harvey
Mr P.J. Hewett
Mrs J. James
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mrs T. Kiddell
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Mrs T. Taylor
Mrs L.S. Turner
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr N.C. Wilkin
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & 

Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Mark Stinson - Executive Manager Governance (Deputy 

Monitoring Officer)
Julie Britton - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
Outgoing Chairman - Opening Remarks

The outgoing Chairman, Councillor Richard Duffield, presented a cheque for 
£3875.18 to Dr. Chris Bushby of The Big C cancer charity, his chosen charity for 
the year. The money was raised through various fundraising events which took 
place throughout 2018/19. 

Dr. Bushby was in attendance to receive the cheque and said a few words about 
the charity and what it had achieved.  He thanked the Chairman for selecting the 
charity and for the huge amount of money that had been raised.

The outgoing Chairman thanked his wife, Christine, for her support and 

8

Agenda Item 2



Council
16 May 2019

2

Action By
accompanying him to various events throughout the year and he also presented 
a personal cheque to the Democratic Services Team for their assistance, acting 
as the Chairman’s secretary during 2018/19.   He added that he had been very 
proud to represent Breckland Council; he had met many interesting people during 
his time as Chairman and wished his successor all the best for the ensuing year.

48/19CHAIRMAN (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

Nominations were invited.

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
made it was RESOLVED that Councillor Lynda Turner be elected Chairman of the 
Council for the ensuing year.

Councillor Turner signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office.

Councillor Turner in the Chair

49/19VICE- CHAIRMAN (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no other nominations being 
received it was RESOLVED that Councillor Roy Brame be appointed Vice-
Chairman for the ensuing year.

Councillor Brame signed the Declaration of Acceptance of Office.

50/19VOTE OF THANKS TO THE OUTGOING CHAIRMAN (AGENDA ITEM 3) 

The Chairman presented Councillor Duffield with the ex-Chairman’s badge of office 
to warm applause and she thanked him for his support in what she could only 
describe as a very exciting year.

Councillor Bowes said that Mr Duffield had done an exemplary job and had been 
firm but fair in chairing the Full Council meetings.  On a personal Ward level, she 
thanked him for attending and supporting many events in Watton.

Councillor Marion Chapman-Allen felt that Councillor Duffield had been an 
excellent ambassador for Breckland not only for the last year as Chairman but also 
for the past 20 years since first being elected back in 1999; serving both 
parishioners and this Council very well.  A vote of thanks was extended to 
Councillor Duffield for his management of the Full Council meetings.

The Leader of the Labour Group, Councillor Jermy, congratulated Councillor 
Duffield for the money and awareness raised for such a worthy cause.  As a 
Chairman, he had been very fair to the opposition Members and was grateful to 
him for his support.

Councillor Gilbert echoed the aforementioned comments and thanked Councillor 
Duffield for the way in which he had represented the Council.

Councillor Brame, the Deputy Chairman, and in his role as Mayor of Thetford, 
echoed all the above sentiments and in particular for attending all civic ceremonies 
in Thetford.  He felt that Councillor Duffield had been an excellent representative 
for Breckland Council.

Councillor Robinson highlighted the Chairman’s reception where the raffle alone 

9



Council
16 May 2019

3

Action By
had raised £670 and stated that Councillor Duffield could look back on his year with 
pride.

51/19APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Phil Cowen, Councillor Keith 
Martin and Councillor Stuart Terry.

52/19MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 5) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

53/19DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None declared.

54/19CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Councillor Lynda Turner was honoured to have been elected Chairman of the 
Council, having been a District Councillor since 2007 holding a variety of posts all 
of which had been very enjoyable; this role; however, she classed as the icing on 
the cake.

She would do her utmost to promote and support the work of the Council at the 
many events already appearing in her diary and would Chair the Full Council 
meetings firmly but fairly.

She then welcomed back returning Councillors and reassured the new Councillors 
that both Officers and existing Members alike were there to help if required.  

The procedures were then explained and the Chairman asked Members to raise 
their hands if they wished to speak and to use the microphones (due the hearing 
loop in the chamber) and keep questions short and focussed.   She then pointed 
Members in the direction of the Code of Conduct, the Officer/Member protocol and 
the Constitution if they were unsure of the procedures.

As far as the new equipment was concerned Members were asked not to look and 
respond to emails during the course of the Council meeting, and to have their 
mobile phones on silent. 

The charities for the year were local and linked - Leeway and the Daisy 
Programme. Both charities addressed the issue of domestic violence, aiming to 
help men, women and children to live in a safe environment and without fear. The 
Chairman then highlighted the fact that in Norfolk two women a year were killed by 
their ex-partner or another family member; one in six men would be victims of 
domestic abuse in their lifetime and one of Breckland’s Market Towns had one of 
the highest recorded number of incidents across Norfolk.  In addition to fund raising 
events, there would be a bucket in meetings for Members to contribute any loose 
change.

The Chairman then thanked all Members and in particular the outgoing Chairman, 
Councillor Duffield, for the opportunities that he had given her during this past civic 
year, and she was looking forward to the next 12 months.

10



Council
16 May 2019

4

Action By
55/19CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

Members were informed that the recommendation on page 14 of the agenda pack 
would be taken under agenda item 20 (Minute No. 25/19 refers).

1. Contract Procedure Rules (Minute No. 27/19)

RESOLVED that the Constitution be amended in accordance with Appendix 
B of the report (attached to the Cabinet Agenda);

2. Minutes

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
19 March 2019 be adopted.

56/19OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission 
meeting held on 19 March 2019 be adopted.

57/19PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

(a) 11 March 2019  

RESOLVED that the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 11 March 2019 be adopted.

(b) 15 March 2019  

RESOLVED that, subject to the changes as highlighted in the Council agenda, 
the confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 15 March 
2019 were adopted.

(c) 8 April 2019  

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 
held on 8 April 2019 be adopted.

58/19LICENSING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Licensing Committee meeting 
held on 27 March 2019 be adopted.

59/19COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY (AGENDA ITEM 12) 

RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority meeting held on 27 March 2019 be adopted.

60/19APPOINTMENT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND ANNUAL 
APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES, OTHER REPRESENTATIVES AND 
CHAIRMEN AND VICE CHAIRMEN 2019-2020 (AGENDA ITEM 13) 

1. Appointment of the Leader of the Council

The Leader, Councillor William Nunn nominated Councillor Sam Chapman-
Allen as Leader of the Council.  He felt that Councillor Chapman-Allen had 

11



Council
16 May 2019

5

Action By
been an excellent Deputy Leader for the past three years and had grown 
immensely in this position.

Councillor Wilkin seconded the nomination.

After being duly proposed and seconded and with no further nominations 
being made it was:

RESOLVED that Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen be appointed as Leader of 
the Council.

Councillor Borrett conveyed his thanks to Councillor Nunn for all his work as 
Leader of the Council.  He felt that Breckland was a very unusual Council, it 
received the least but spending was on par with other authorities with the 
monies raised from the Council’s assets and congratulated Councillor Nunn 
for all that he had achieved for this Council.

Councillor Sherwood also thanked Councillor Nunn on behalf of Breckland 
Council having been first elected in 1995 then appointed as Leader in 2005 
until 2013, then again from 2016 to this present day.  He felt that the 
gratitude owed from this Council and local residents should be recorded.  
Councillor Nunn should also be congratulated on the work he had done in 
terms of the Local Government Association and for the advice he had given 
to other authorities and Leaders and thanked him for his service.

Councillor Wilkin echoed the above comments and said that Councillor 
Nunn had made some very brave decisions over the years and had shared 
some very good times with him since both being elected back in 1995.

Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group, said that the best 
compliment he could give to Councillor Nunn was that he always sought 
alternative views and showed good quality as a Leader.  He was delighted 
for the new Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen.

2. Annual Appointment of Committees, other Representatives and Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman 2019-20

RESOLVED that the appointments to Committees and Chairmen and Vice-
Chairmen of those Committees, as set out on Appendix A (attached), be 
approved.

61/19LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 14) 

It was announced that Councillor Paul Claussen had been appointed as Deputy 
Leader of the Council.

Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen thanked Members for the great honour of 
becoming Breckland Council’s new Leader.  Councillor Nunn had left the Council in 
an extremely strong position, financially, operationally and politically and had left 
very big shoes for him to fill.  He looked forward to working with all Councillors from 
every Party and to embark on the next leg of Breckland’s journey together.  As the 
Council’s new Leader, he congratulated every single Member on their great 
success at the local Elections, regardless of their political affiliation. Being selected 
by local residents as their representative was an absolute privilege for all and he 
was sure that they would serve the people, all communities and the businesses 
they represented with the required passion and commitment.  He urged all 

12



Council
16 May 2019

6

Action By
Councillors to make the most of the training opportunities and support being 
offered by experienced Members and Officers.  

The Leader then set out his objectives for future years this included pursuing 
Breckland’s award winning commercial approach to property investment in order to 
be as self-sustaining as possible.  He would drive Breckland forward working 
closely with its partners and find real solutions for the long term challenges that 
authorities faced such as domestic violence, as the Chairman had alluded to, and 
social mobility.  A great deal of hard work was ahead in delivering all these 
initiatives/projects to ensure that Breckland was a great place for people to live and 
for businesses to thrive.

The Leader then announced his new Cabinet, as follows: 

 Paul Claussen, Deputy Leader
 Gordon Bambridge 
 Ian Sherwood
 Alison Webb
 Phil Cowen 
 Mark Robinson; and
 Paul Hewett

Councillor Bowes had been appointed as the Executive Support Member.

Roles and responsibilities would be distributed to all Members.

62/19QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 15) 

None.

63/19QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA 
ITEM 16) 

Councillor Gilbert congratulated Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen on his new 
appointment and he wished him well in steering the Council in the right direction.  

He understood that at a Conservative Group meeting in October 2018, the public 
were given confidential, commercially sensitive, financial information that they had 
no right to see.  Seven months on, not all Councillors had been privy to that 
information and therefore had three questions to put to the Leader:  

1. Did the Leader believe that this person who gave the public this confidential 
information was in breach of the Council’s Code of Conduct and therefore 
should not be classed as a fit and proper person to hold the office of 
Councillor?

2. He was aware that an investigation was underway and he asked when this 
Council would be informed of the outcome and if any proposed sanctions 
would be applied? 

3. When would Members be able to have sight of the private & confidential, 
commercially sensitive, financial information?

In response to question 1, the Leader said that it was untrue that this information 
had not been shared with all Members of the Council.  It was a ‘below the line’ item 
but all Members would have had access to the papers within the Cabinet and 
Council reports and he would be more than happy to show Members where this 
information was held.  In regard to question 3, confidentiality was exactly that; the 

13



Council
16 May 2019

7

Action By
Council thrived on its investment in its commercial property portfolio and it was 
right and proper that items such as these were taken in private.  These 
conversations had to be confidential between the Council, as the Landlord, and 
with the tenant moving forward, to enable this authority to reach the best possible 
agreement for the Council and its residents.  Without the commercial property 
portfolio, the Council would not be in such a sound position, as it had no reliance 
on central government and was currently self-sustaining with the lowest Council 
Tax within Norfolk but was spending exactly the same on services as other 
authorities. 

The Chief Executive responded to question 2.  She advised that there was an 
investigation pending which had not been concluded and therefore no further 
comments could be made and no details from this investigation could be shared.

The Leader of the Green Party, Councillor Tim Birt, congratulated Councillor Lynda 
Turner on her appointment as Chairman of the Council.

Councillor Birt’s question related to IT issues.  Firstly, the lack of information 
available on the iPads particularly in relation to land sales and secondly, not having 
access to his emails when his iPad broke at the weekend and the lack of IT support 
outside office hours.  Councillor Birt wanted to know why his request to install iMap 
to access his emails had been denied.

The Leader stated that all information should be freely available to all Members.  
As far as land sales were concerned, the Officer/Member Protocol stated quite 
clearly that the Ward Member(s) would be contacted as part of the potential land 
sale consultation process.  The procedures were then explained in detail.   As far 
as the IT issues were concerned, Members were informed that by moving to iPads 
the Council would save around one million sheets of paper over 4 years, saving the 
Council in the region of £90k a year.  He hoped Members welcomed the move to a 
paperless environment and he was pleased to see everyone in attendance with 
their IT.  He appreciated the fact that there would be teething issues but he was 
pleased that the IT Team had been able to help Councillor Birt with his issue earlier 
in the week.  He would be more than happy to look into the possibility of a 24hr IT 
Helpdesk Team at a cost to this Council but it would be a Council decision if this 
came into effect.  He reminded Members that all Councillors had been offered a 
mobile phone for back up but these had not been purchased in advance just in 
case such offers were declined and would only be ordered on request moving 
forward.  

Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group mentioned fly-tipping that still 
remained a major issue in his Ward.  He felt that the Council’s existing Policy was 
not helping and asked the Leader to confirm that if a member of the public were to 
report an incident of fly-tipping to Breckland but unbeknown to them it was not 
Breckland owned land would the Council then report it to the relevant land owner 
and inform the person or would it do nothing.  Rob Walker, the Executive Director 
for Place, informed Members that the Council did contact the landowner (if known) 
on behalf of the person reporting the fly-tipping issue.  The Council had recently 
recruited a new Enforcement Officer and fly-tipping would be their main priority.  
The Leader then thanked Councillor Jermy for the work he had done in respect of 
the Task & Finish Group on behalf of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission.  Much 
of this work had shaped where the Council was currently at in terms of digitalisation 
engagement.

Councillor Atterwill congratulated the Chairman, the Leader and Deputy Leader on 
their appointments. He then asked the Leader if he knew of the actual date when 

14



Council
16 May 2019

8

Action By
the Local Plan was expected to be approved as he had many concerns that this 
Plan had been slipping further behind for many months.  He also asked what the 
Council’s intention was to ensure that it had a more robust 5 year housing land 
supply and what the strategy was for achieving the growth that Breckland required.  
Additionally, he also thanked the Council for the Induction Training that Members 
had attended, he found it very helpful.  He had been most interested in listening to 
the Housing Team and understanding the amount of stress they were all under in 
terms of demand.  He had been told at the induction that demand had increased by 
over 100% in the past 12 months and asked what the Council’s strategy was for 
improving this situation.

In response, the Leader advised that in terms of the Local Plan every single 
Member of the Council had raised concerns about the process and although 
frustrating, the process would continue and the date when the Local Plan would 
come forward was still unknown.  Everyone involved was working extremely hard 
with the Planning Inspector in terms of his approach to Breckland’s local policies 
compared to national policies and this approach was where the challenges lay.  He 
felt that if Members had not been so pro-active in wanting local policies for 
Breckland, to which he had agreed, he believed the Plan would have been adopted 
many months ago.  In the interim, the Portfolio Holder for Planning, Councillor 
Bambridge would update Members on this matter once further information came 
forward. In relation to Housing Land supply, this was a real frustration.  Members 
were informed that Breckland Council had local partnerships working with it to 
investigate blocked sites.  These sites were a real issue across the District as 
developers were not developing them out.  The reasons behind this were explained 
and it was noted that Norfolk as a whole had a poor delivery rate and all Norfolk 
Leaders were working together on this matter.  The Leader was pleased that 
Councillor Atterwill had found the Induction programme helpful and as far as the 
Housing Team were concerned, there was a Housing review taking place in July 
following many changes in policy from central Government where a number of 
responsibilities had been devolved back to local authorities.  The findings of this 
review would allow the Council to shape the Housing Team moving forward.  In 
response to a request, the Leader agreed to meet Councillor Atterwill outside the 
meeting to hear a number of suggestions to improve growth particularly in the north 
of the District.

Councillor Clarke mentioned that at a previous Full Council meeting it had been 
agreed to live-stream public meetings on the internet and he asked if this was any 
further forward.  The Leader explained that a small business case was being put 
together which would then be passed to the Overview & Scrutiny Commission for 
consideration.

64/19APPOINTMENT OF COUNCILLORS TO OUTSIDE BODIES 2019-20 (AGENDA 
ITEM 17) 

The Deputy Leader, Councillor Paul Claussen, presented the Appointments to 
Outside Bodies report to Members. He explained that at these annual meetings, 
appointments were reviewed and in advance of this AGM, Officers had contacted 
all of the outside bodies in respect of their insurance provision.  He then drew 
attention to the appendices to the report.  Proposed appointments were listed.  

It was agreed that Councillor Wilkinson would be removed from the Hamond’s 
Educational Charity and replaced with Councillor Fabian Eagle.  

Councillor Jermy, the Leader of the Labour Group had noticed a vacancy on the 
Breckland Area Museums Committee and therefore proposed that as well as 

15



Council
16 May 2019

9

Action By
Councillor Harry Clarke, Councillor Chris Harvey be appointed to fill this vacancy.  
Secondly, the vacancy for a substitute on the Norfolk Health Scrutiny Committee 
he proposed that Councillor Susan Dowling be appointed.

Councillor David Wickerson stated that as far as Hamond’s Educational Charity 
was concerned, this matter had been discussed at a recent Swaffham Town 
Council meeting and it had been agreed by Councillor Ian Sherwood and 
Councillor Ed Colman that as he was already on that particular charity as a Town 
Council representative he would come off but then fill the vacancy for Breckland.  
He asked if this was acceptable.  The Deputy Leader assured Councillor 
Wickerson that this change had already been made.  The Democratic Services 
Officer confirmed that Councillor Peter Wilkinson had been removed and 
Councillors Eagle and Wickerson had been appointed accordingly.

Councillor Duigan then questioned the position of the Breckland Area Museums 
Committee and whether this was a committee appointment rather than an outside 
body appointment.

The Executive Manager for Governance, Mark Stinson advised that this would be 
investigated.

RESOLVED that subject to the aforementioned changes the most suitable 
representatives be appointed to serve on the list of Outside Bodies (see attached).

65/19APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON UNDER THE LOCALISM ACT 
2011 (AGENDA ITEM 18) 

Maxine O’Mahony, the Executive Director for Strategy & Governance presented 
the report.

The Localism Act 2011 placed a duty on the Council to appoint an Independent 
Person as part of assessing standards complaints.  The report asked Members to 
consider the re-appointment of the current Independent Person, Mr Bob Davis who 
was previously appointed in May 2018.

RESOLVED that the current Independent Person, Mr Bob Davis, be re-appointed 
for the period 16 May 2019 until the annual Council meeting in May 2023. 

66/19REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL ON MEMBER 
SCHEME OF ALLOWANCES 2019/20 (AGENDA ITEM 20) 

Mark Stinson, the Executive Manager for Governance presented the report that 
asked Members to consider and approve the Members Scheme of Allowances for 
the period 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.  Mr Alistair Skipper a member of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel was in attendance to answer any questions.  
The Panel had met on two occasions and had interviewed the former Leader of the 
Council and had invited Councillor Denis Crawford as the former Leader of the 
main opposition party.  The Panel’s recommendations and appendices to the report 
were highlighted.

Councillor Atterwill stated that he would not be supporting the recommendations 
due to the allowances paid to the Chairmen of Committees and the disparity 
between the workload of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Planning 
Committee.   Councillor Atterwill asked how often the Council changed the 
membership of the Independent Remuneration Panel. Members were informed that 
the re-appointment of Panel members took place in 2018 but normally it was every 

16



Council
16 May 2019

10

Action By
4 years.  Mr Skipper was asked to comment on the disparity.

Mr Skipper explained the building block system used to establish how the figures 
were arrived; dependent on the role of the Chairmen and the additional work 
carried out.  The allowances paid were valid and were reliant on information 
provided to the Panel.

Councillor Harry Clarke felt that the allowance for the Planning Committee 
Chairman was extremely good value and he would be supporting the basic 
increase as it was based on the person’s time not their performance.

Councillor Tim Birt had been surprised about the mileage rate paid and queried the 
allowance and asked why it was above the HRMC normal maximum.

The Executive Manager for Governance stated that this would most probably have 
been addressed some years ago by a former Panel and that rate had been applied 
since.  He reminded Members that they were not obliged to accept the 
recommendations. 

Councillor Roger Atterwill put forward an amendment to the recommendation that 
the allowance for the Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission be 
removed and be paid the same as the Vice-Chairman until such time that the role 
was reviewed by the Panel.  

The amendment was seconded by Councillor Tim Birt but the vote was lost – the 
vote included 3 votes against and 7 abstentions.

Councillor Bambridge reminded Members that the allowance should not be based 
on the number of meetings but the work that went on behind the scenes.

Councillor Tim Birt then proposed an amendment to reduce the mileage rate to 45p 
per mile.  This proposal was not seconded.

Each recommendation was then voted on separately; and it was:

RESOLVED that:

1) the new scheme is effective from 1 April 2019 until 31 March 2020;

2) the Basic Allowance for District Councillors is increased in line with the  
locally agreed Breckland staff pay settlement of 2% for the year 1 April 
2019 – 31 March 2020;

3) the Special Responsibility Allowances are increased in line with the locally 
agreed Breckland staff pay settlement of 2% for the year 1 April 2019 – 31 
March 2020;

4) the a special responsibility Allowance for the Vice Chairman of the Council 
be introduced from 1 April 2019; and

5) the Carer’s allowance is increased to £9 per hour in line with the increase to 
the ‘‘Real Living Wage’ with effect from 1 April 2019.

It was noted that Councillor Brame abstained from voting on recommendation no.4.

17



Council
16 May 2019

11

Action By
67/19NNDR DISCRETIONARY RELIEF (AGENDA ITEM 21) 

Alison Chubbock, the Chief Accountant to the Council, presented the report.  The 
report proposed an addition to Breckland’s existing guidance on NNDR rate relief 
to cover the Local Discretionary Rate Relief (LDRR).

RESOLVED that the proposed policy and guidelines to determine applications for 
LDRR, and the determination process, be adopted with immediate effect.

68/19ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 
(AGENDA ITEM 22) 

The Leader reminded Members of the photo shoot taking place immediately after 
the meeting.

The meeting closed at 11.35 am CHAIRMAN

18



Engagement List – Chairman
16 May – 17 July 

Date Event Host
21 May Judging panel for BDC VIP awards Maxine O’Mahony
28 May Dennys Walk, Narborough opening Flagship
06 June Silver Social - “MAGNIFICENT MEN… Silver Social 
09 June morning Civic Service Mayor of Kings Lynn & West Norfolk

Mayor & Mayoress Cllr Geoffrey  Mrs Rose Hipperson 
09 June afternoon City Service Lord Mayor, Cllr Vaughan Thomas

& Sheriff of Norwich, Dr.Marian Prinsley
12 June Presidents Day – Sports Experience Day Mike Jackson MBE 

Chairman of the President’s Sporting Club
Essex Disabled Sports Foundation 

16 June Choral Evensong Dean and Chapter Norwich Cathedral
17 June NSPCC AGM West Norfolk, Kings Lynn & Wisbech Branch Committee 
20 June BDC VIP Awards Breckland Council 
28 June Armed Forces Day Flag Raising Chairman, Breckland Council 
04 July HM Lord-Lieutenant retirements Garden Party HM Lord-Lieutenant 

Sir Richard Jewson, KCVO, JP
06 July New community hub opening Lyn Hales- 

Business Support Norfolk Library & Information Service 
07 July Civic Service Breckland Chairman, Cllr Lynda Turner 

19

A
genda Item

 4



Engagement List – Vice-Chairman
16 May – 17 July 

Date Event Host
31 May Change of Command Ceremony – RAF Mildenhall Major John M Wood
06 June 75th Anniversary of D Day Mayor of Gt Yarmouth

Cllr Michael Jeal
08 June Speech Day and Lunch Governors and Head Teacher Wymondham College 
10 June Presentation Evening, BDC sponsored the 

Celebration of Achievement Award 
West Suffolk College 

12 June President’s Day – Sports Experience Day Mike Jackson MBE 
Chairman of the President’s Sporting Club
Essex Disabled Sports Foundation 

23 June Mayors Civic Service & Procession Mayor of Thetford 
Cllr Brenda Canham 

25 June Spalding Armed Forces Day Parade & Service Jan Whitbourn- Tulip Events Management 
28 June Summer Cocktail Party CO & Officers 1st The Queens Dragoon Guards
29 June Armed Forces Day Royal British Legion – Thetford 
03 July Fundraising Dinner – Mike Jackson MBE 

Chairman of the President’s Sporting Club
Essex Disabled Sports Foundation

06 July Lord Mayors Street Procession Lord Mayor, Cllr Vaughan Thomas
& Sheriff of Norwich  Dr.Marian Prinsley 

07 July Civic Service Breckland Chairman, Cllr Lynda Turner 
14 July Circus Show High Sheriff of Norfolk 

The Lady Agnew of Oulton

20



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 21 May 2019 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr M. S. Robinson

Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr T. Birt

Mr I. Martin
Mr P. Morton

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer) 

(BDC)
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

30/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 March were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

31/19 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Claussen, Cowen and Hewett.

32/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

33/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

34/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Birt, Borrett, Bowes, I Martin and Morton.  

Public Document Pack

21

Agenda Item 8a



Cabinet
21 May 2019

2

Action By

35/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

36/19 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

 (a) Match Funding (large) application - Caston Parish Council  

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure and Culture presented the 
report and explained that Caston Parish Council was seeking a grant to 
support their project to create a play area within the village.  At present 
Caston did not have specific facilities for the children and the nearest play 
facility required a car journey into the next village.

The Norfolk County Councillor for Caston, Councillor Claire Bowes was 
pleased to see the application and the recommendation being put forward.

Reason for Recommendation
The grant application met the criteria of the scheme and all of the funding 
was in place.  There had been effective consultation with young people in 
the village and there were sufficient funds remaining in the match funding 
budget to support the request.

Options
1. To fully fund the application as set out in the report.
2. To partly fund the application as set out in the report.
3. Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the grant award of £7,800 (or 30% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to the Caston Parish Council to create a 
play area in the village be approved.

 (b) Match Funding (large) application - Yaxham Village Amenities Association  

The Executive Member for Community, Leisure and Culture explained how 
the report sought approval for a grant to support the costs of a range of 
repairs and improvements to the village hall.

Councillor Ian Martin added that the village hall required various essential 
works to bring the building to a modern standard and future proof it.  He 
added the conditions that had been set had not been achieved by the end 
of April as it was hoped, however it was being dealt with.

The Executive Director for Place confirmed that any outstanding matters 
would be included as part of the conditions of the grant, should it be 
agreed.

Reasons for Recommendation
The grant application meets the criteria of the scheme and the application 
evidences that the works were necessary and would help the village hall to 
retain existing users and increase overall usage.

Options
1. To fully fund the application as set out within the report.
2. To partly fund the application as set out within the report.

22



Cabinet
21 May 2019

3

Action By

3. Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the grant of £13,368 (or 30% of the project costs, 
whichever is the lower amount) to Yaxham Village Amenities Association 
towards the cost of a range of repairs and improvements to the village hall 
be approved.

37/19 FINANCIAL OUT-TURN 2018-19 

The Executive Director for Commercialisation presented the report which 
provided information on the actual full-year financial position of the Council as 
at 31 March 2019, together with a progress update on the transformation 
programme.  The final full year actual was an above budget spend of 
£169,000 (1.3%).  There were some higher-value variances which had been 
identified and included higher costs of temporary accommodation leading to a 
£137,000 above budget spend within Housing; this would continue to be 
monitored.

Reasons for Recommendation
To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of 
the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

To enable approved capital projects to continue to deliver in the new financial 
year.

Options
1. That the report and appendices be noted; and recommend to Full 

Council that: 
 Capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £3,324,705 be 

carried forward into 2019-2020 to support projects in progress.
 The final capital out-turn and funding for 2018-19 as detailed in 

Appendix B be approved.
 The revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2019-20 

capital programme detailed in Appendix C be approved.
2. That the report and appendices be noted and changes be made to the 

recommendations to Full Council.

RESOLVED that Members noted the report and appendices; and

RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that:
1) Capital budgets (& associated funding sources) of £3,324,705 be 

carried forward into 2019-2020 to support projects in progress.
2) The final capital out-turn and funding for 2018-19 as detailed in 

Appendix B be approved.
3) The revised capital budget and associated funding for the 2019-20 

capital programme detailed in Appendix C be approved.

38/19 SWAFFHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - MAKING (ADOPTION) OF THE 
SWAFFHAM NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN 

The Executive Member for Planning congratulated Swaffham in preparing a 
Neighbourhood Plan and felt Neighbourhood Plans were good for all 
communities.

The Executive Member for Customer Engagement said as Ward Member for 

23



Cabinet
21 May 2019

4

Action By

Swaffham, he was fully aware of the amount of work residents of Swaffham 
had put into the plan and the level of engagement they had managed to 
achieve had been complementary.

Reasons for Recommendation
It was recommended that Members endorse Option 1, as there had been a 
positive vote in favour for making the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan through 
a Referendum and there was considered to be compliance, rather than being 
incompatible, with European obligations and Human Rights conventions.

Options
1) agree to “make” the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan and is “made” as 

part of the statutory Development Plan for Breckland Council, as 
required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the Town and Country 
Planning Act as “…more than half of those voting to have voted in 
favour of the plan …”, and to undertake the required publication, 
advise the Town Council and other prescribed persons and 
subsequently update the district policies map. 

2) do not make the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan where “…it considers 
that the Plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible with 
any EU obligation or any of the Convention Rights (within the meaning 
of the Human Rights Act 1998).”

RESOLVED:   
1) That the Swaffham Neighbourhood Plan, as written at the time of the 

referendum, be “made” as part of the statutory Development Plan for 
Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act (Option1);

2) To publish the decision as required by paragraph (9) of section 38A of the 
Town and Country Planning Act; 

3) To advise Swaffham Town Council and any other prescribed persons 
about the decision, to meet the requirements of paragraph (10) of section 
38A of the Town and Country Planning Act;

4) To amend the Breckland district policies map to meet the requirements of 
paragraph 9 Town and Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012.

39/19 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The minutes of the meeting of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership 
held on 26 March 2019 were noted.

40/19 NEXT MEETING 

The Chairman informed Members that Cabinet meetings would be taking 
place around the District, and therefore the next meeting on 25 June 2019 
would take place in Swaffham (venue to be confirmed).  

The meeting closed at 9.50 am
CHAIRMAN

24



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 25 June 2019 at 9.30 am in
Town Hall, 4 London St, Swaffham PE37 7DQ

PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen 
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr N.C. Wilkin

Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance 

Manager (shared)
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Riana Rudland - Breckland Place Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

41/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 21 May were confirmed and signed by 
the Chairman. 

42/19 APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Hewett and Robinson.

43/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

44/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

45/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Wickerson, Wilkin and Wilkinson.

Public Document Pack

25

Agenda Item 8b



Cabinet
25 June 2019

2

Action By

46/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

The Chairman informed Members that Breckland had pledged to support the 
Armed Forces Covenant on 7 March 2012.

The commitment did not detract from the support given to residents who were 
not part of the Armed Forces Community. He proposed to refresh the 
Council’s commitment with a view to making Breckland’s support of the 
Armed Forces Covenant “head and shoulders above the rest”.
It was known that Councils have a higher awareness of the needs of the 
Armed Forces Community, compared to other non-public organisations 
however more could still be done, and the Local Government Association had 
also indicated that they were wanting to engage with the Armed Forces 
Covenant more. Currently the Council primarily support the Armed Forces 
Covenant effectively through the Housing team, Contact Centre and DWP.

He informed Members that a re-launch of Breckland’s commitment would 
coincide with the raising of the flag event for Armed Forces week on Friday 
28 June.  It would include raising awareness by the creation of a webpage on 
the Council’s website to inform members of the Armed Forces Community of 
the support the Council could offer and signpost to other key Stakeholders 
who could also support the Armed Forces Community in areas outside of the 
Councils remit.

47/19 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

48/19 REFERENCE FROM THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
(STANDING ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

49/19 Q4 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Governance presented the 
report that detailed the Council’s performance for the period 1 January 2019 
to 31 March 2019.  Members heard that the way in which the indicators would 
be reported in future was changing to a live document to allow effective 
reporting in the future.

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth was pleased to see that the 
number of working days lost as sickness had reduced as a lot of effort had 
gone into supporting Officers and their wellbeing.  However he raised concern 
at the number of missed waste bins which were showing as red.  Members 
were assured that Serco had an aging fleet, but were able to swap vehicles or 
spot hire when required

The Executive Member for Housing, Health and Environment expressed her 
thanks to Officers that the way the report would look in the future would 
change which would allow Breckland to effectively manage performance.

Councillor Wilkin felt concerned with the increase in the number of fly-tips that 
had been collected across the District and asked what could be done.  The 
Breckland Place Manager said it was a concern not only for the District but for 

26



Cabinet
25 June 2019

3

Action By

the County too.  The Norfolk Waste Partnership were looking at how 
authorities can work better together which included looking at how fly-tips 
were categorised to ensure all councils report in the same way.  Social Media 
also played a part to advertise the ‘Scrap It’ campaign that encouraged 
residents to carry out checks on licensed waste carriers.

Members noted the contents of the report.

50/19 REVIEW OF LOCALISED COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth presented the report that 
asked Members to consider options for the Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme for 2020 – 21.

Reasons for Recommendation
The changes made to the current scheme have worked well – introducing a 
tolerance rule for the treatment of UC awards will reduce the number of 
notifications customers receive to amend their Council Tax payments, and 
provide stability for customer repayments whilst reducing customer contact.

Options 
A number for consideration are outlined in the report.

RESOLVED that the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2020-21 is 
reviewed in line with the recommendations outlined in the report and 
consultation is undertaken.

51/19 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 9 September 2019 at 
9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Dereham were noted.

The meeting closed at 10.50 am

CHAIRMAN

27



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Held on Thursday, 30 May 2019 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr E. Colman
Mr F. Eagle

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr H. E. J. Clarke (Substitute Member)

In Attendance
Rob Walker - Executive Director Place
Phil Adams - Executive Manager People & Public 

Protection
Ross Bangs - Corporate Innovation, Change & 

Performance Manager (shared)
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services 

Manager
Ruth Tudge - Democratic Services Officer

Action By
28/19 MINUTES 

The Minutes of a meeting held on 19th March 2019 were proposed 
by Councillor Kybird as a true record and agreed by Councillor 
Lynda Turner and were confirmed as a correct record and signed 
by the Chairman.

29/19 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES 

Apologies were received from Councillors Wickerson and Jermy.  
Councillor Clarke was present as Councillor Jermy’s substitute.

30/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

31/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

32/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

33/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

None.

28

Agenda Item 9



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
30 May 2019

2

Action By

34/19 COMMUNITY ASSET VALUE POLICY 

A presentation was given by the Communities and Environmental 
Services Manager, Steve James. He explained the purpose of the 
policy which was to give communities the right to identify buildings 
or other land that they believe to be of importance to a 
community’s social well-being. If an asset was identified and 
came up for sale the community would be given a fair chance to 
make a bid to buy it on the open market. 

A copy of the presentation would be shared with Members for 
information.

Ruth 
Tudge 

35/19 Q4 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager, 
Ross Bangs had given an explanation and overview on the 
Quarterly Performance Report and how to interpret results. The 
Chairman opened this to the Committee for questions.

Councillor Clarke asked about flytipping and noticed the tonnage 
had increased from 60.00 tonnes to 90.69. The number of 
incidents of fly tipping had also increased from 212 to 362. He 
questioned if Breckland had carried out any ‘interviews under 
caution’ or prosecutions. 

The Executive Director of Place, Rob Walker confirmed there had 
been an increase in flytipping. A Fly Tip Enforcement Officer had 
been recently appointed and already had a first case, the details 
of which would be publicised shortly. It was hoped this would lead 
to more future convictions and deterrents. He confirmed 
Breckland only collect fly tips from public land within the district. 
Flytipping on private land was the responsibility of the land owner.

Councillor Clarke went on to ask how long the Jaeger building at 
Kings Lynn had been empty. The Corporate Innovation, Change 
& Performance Manager confirmed that following lengthy 
negotiations, the property had been re-let.  This had been 
reported to the Risk and Audit Committee. The property had been 
vacant for a period of 23 months and Members were informed the 
previous tenant went into administration. The Chairman asked if 
Breckland took appropriate steps to recover funds where 
possible. The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance 
Manager will find out further details and report back.

Councillor Birt queried that under the Freedom of information the 
target was 100%, however the actual was 73% yet we have a 
green indicator and was there a reason for that. The Chairman 
stated the Commission had previously said that this was a 
statutory duty and if it was less than 100% members should be 
concerned. The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance 

Ross 
Bangs 

29



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
30 May 2019

3

Action By
Manager explained the reasons why it displayed a green and the 
Chairman asked that in future the detail was included in the 
report.

Councillor Turner suggested if we knew who the Freedom of 
Information requests were coming from we could see if there was 
a trend. Members were informed the information was available 
and showed a significant reduction in the number of requests 
received due to publicising information on the website. Officers 
continue to review the requests.

Councillor Birt sought clarification on how the abandoned calls 
and new website visitors was measured. The Corporate 
Innovation, Change & Performance Manager agreed to meet with 
Councillor Birt to discuss the item in detail.

Councillor Birt went on to question why the household waste, 
recycled or composted, showed as green despite the trend being 
low for the previous four quarter reporting. The Executive Director 
of Place explained it showed a recurring theme and suggested 
the team consider the tolerances and explain in detail any 
deviation that could be permitted.

Missed Waste Collections – Councillor Birt asked if this could be 
set as percentage. It was agreed that the missed waste 
collections would be reported as a percentage in future reports.

It was suggested the final report from the recent Flytipping Task 
and Finish Group be shared with new members.

Councillor Turner asked for the benefit of new members if it could 
be explained when a new refuse vehicle would be requisitioned. 
The Executive Director of Place explained that the current 
contract allowed for a new refuse vehicle per 5,000 new 
households which would remain so until the current contract 
expired in the next 2 years. However a more gradual approach 
was being explored.

Councillor Birt suggested that the performance indicator for staff 
turnover be a sliding average which was agreed. 

A discussion was had on whether it would be appropriate for the 
Commission to see if there was a significant difference between 
full and part time staff sickness. It was decided that the 
Commission would leave it at this time.

The report stated we had a negative value of empty properties 
back in use however it was displayed as a zero. It was asked if 
there was a negative value it could be shown in order for 
Members to keep track. The Corporate Innovation, Change & 
Performance Manager explained that historically reports showed 

Ross 
Bangs 

Ross 
Bangs 

Ross 
Bangs 

Ruth 
Tudge

Ross 
Bangs 

30



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
30 May 2019

4

Action By
the number of properties available as per council tax receipts. It 
was agreed that the measure actually determined the number of 
properties brought back into use as a result of direct officer 
intervention, whereby the housing service had worked with 
owners of long term empty properties either through engagement 
or enforcement to bring them back into use, so with the data in 
terms of negative figure the measure would be re-written and 
shown in Q1 report as properties brought back into use as a result 
of direct officer intervention. Councillor Kybird asked how ARP 
assess whether a property is a second home. 

Councillor Birt asked if there could be a better way to measure 
unemployment. It was explained that unemployment levels were 
pulled from Government Return Data however the Corporate 
Innovation, Change & Performance Manager would look to 
understand if there was a better way to measure this and bring 
findings back to the Commission.

Councillor Birt queried why the target of Major Applications 
determined within 13 weeks or agreed extension was showing 
green and felt is should be Amber. Members were informed that 
the Corporate Improvement Team was working with Capita on 
targets and figures to ensure they were reported accurately.

Councillor Ian Martin asked for an explanation on how we were 
achieving the commercial property average yield. The Corporate 
Innovation, Change & Performance Manager would seek further 
clarification on the way was this was calculated.
 

Ross 
Bangs 

Ross 
Bangs

Ross 
Bangs

36/19 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM) 

Councillor Kybird raised whether the Breckland Area Museum 
Committee should be an outside body or a committee following an 
issue Councillor Duigan had raised. It was agreed that Councillor 
Kybird would discuss the matter with the Democratic Services 
Manager and report back to the commission.

37/19 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM) 

None.

38/19 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM) 

The Chairman encouraged members of the Commission to make 
use of Councillor Call for Action if a matter was pertinent to a local 
ward that had wider ramifications or involved other Local 
Authorities that should be held to account.

39/19 WORK PROGRAMME 

The Chairman asked Members for items they would like included 
in the Work Programme. The following suggestions were made:

31



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
30 May 2019

5

Action By

 The calculation of how the Council has arrived at the 5 
year land supply as it would be useful and affected all our 
rural communities.

 Validation of planning applications, what was the process 
for revising or reviewing local list.

 Neighbourhood planning. How does Breckland support 
local groups in developing plans? 

 To review Capita contract and to understand the process of 
how planning applications are validated. 

 Local Plan and the National Policy Framework.
 To seek an update from the Flagship Task and finish 

Group.
 To consider holding a Task and finish Group to look into 

the Housing Strategy.
 Market Town Initiative and how it has impacted 

opportunities and how it is measured.
 Community Grant Funding Scheme.
 How Section 106 money is used.
 Governance and Policy around surplus land disposal.
 Green Issues.

The Chairman will work up a draft programme and distribute for 
comment.

Chairman 

40/19 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next scheduled for Thursday, 11th July 2019 
at 10am in the Anglia Room were noted.

The meeting closed at 12.12 pm

CHAIRMAN

32



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Tuesday, 28 May 2019 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr R. Atterwill
Councillor C. Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen

Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mrs H, Crane
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr K.S. Gilbert

Also Present
Mr S Askew (Ward 
Representative)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen (Ward 
Representative)
Mrs S. Dowling (Ward 
Representative)

Mr R.W. Duffield (Ward Representative)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Ward Representative)
Mr I. Martin (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Joe Barrow Planning Graduate
Hugh Coggles Tree & Countryside Officer
Rebecca Collins Head of Major Projects
Andrew Darcy Planning Policy Manager
Tom Donnelly Development Management Assistant
Carl Griffiths Principal Development Management Planner
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Mark Simmonds Principal Development Management Planner
Simon Wood Director of Planning & Building Control
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer

 
Action By

52/19MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

(a) 15 March 2019 (for info)  

Members were in agreement with the changes made (see agenda pack).

(b) 8 April 2019  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 8 April 2019 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

53/19APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brame, K Martin and 
Suggitt. 

No substitutes were in attendance.

33

Agenda Item 10



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

54/19DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

a) Stow Bedon/Breckles: Wayland Farms Ltd, Cherry Tree Farm: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0878/F

Councillor Bowes declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this 
application due to her being related to the applicant.  Councillor Bowes 
remained in the room but did not take part in the discussions and 
abstained from voting on the application (see Minute No. 60/19(r)). 

b) Fransham: Land Off Station Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0371/D

Michael Horn, the Solicitor to the Council left the room whilst this item was 
being discussed.

55/19CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

The Chairman conveyed his thanks to the former Vice-Chairman of the Planning 
Committee, Mr William Richmond.  He also congratulated Councillor Peter 
Wilkinson on his appointment as the new Vice-Chair and welcomed the new 
Members to their first meeting.

56/19REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Item 9(v): Watton: Reference: 3PL/2018/0952/O had been deferred.

57/19URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

58/19LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Simon Wood, the Director of Planning & Building Control provided the Committee 
with an update on the Local Plan.

A briefing note had already been emailed to all Members for information.

The Planning Inspector had instructed the Council to hold a further 6 week 
consultation exercise, focusing purely on the Schedule of Main Modifications.  

Work was already underway to ensure that the consultation period started w/c 27 
May with a view to it ending w/c 8 July 2019.

The reason for this additional consultation was that the Inspector had indicated 
that there was a potential for residents and others to be confused by the number 
of different versions of the Plan available on the consultation and Local Plan 
webpages.

The Inspector had indicated that this would not impact on the timetabling of the 
report of the hold up the progress of the Local Plan.  He had indicated that he 
would be issuing his report around early August to be presented to the Full 
Council meeting in September as previously planned.

Andrew Darcy, the new Planning Policy Manager was in attendance to respond 
to any queries.

34



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

As far as the 5 year housing land supply was concerned, it was anticipated that 
an update would be provided at the Planning Committee meeting in June.

Councillor Atterwill asked the Officers in attendance what they expected the 5 
year housing land supply to be once the Local Plan had been adopted.  The 
Director of Planning & Building Control advised that the rules of how it was 
calculated had changed and therefore, at the moment, it was impossible to say.  
It was noted that most authorities were now utilising this new methodology.  
Councillor Atterwill was disappointed with the response and gave him no 
confidence.  It was explained that the 5 year housing land supply figure was 
unknown due to the changes in methodology and the amount of allocations that 
still had to come forward.

On a brighter note, Members were informed that the Swaffham Neighbourhood 
Plan had been approved at a recent Cabinet meeting and this would now form 
part of the Development Plan.  Any applications that now came forward would 
have to be taken into account if these applications were within the 
Neighbourhood Plan area.

59/19DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

The Schedule of Deferred Applications was noted.

(a) Beeston: Syers Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1338/O  

Proposed 2 no. dwellings and garages.

This application had been deferred at the Planning Committee meeting on 8 April 
2019, pending statutory consultee comments from the Local Highway Authority 
and the Tree and Countryside Consultant, following additional information 
submitted by the applicant (a Tree Survey and amended Plan).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further information had been included in the supplementary agenda (see page 
317).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Richard Duffield (in support)

Applicant: Toni Townsend

Applicant’s Agent: Jerry Stone (to answer questions)

Parish Council: Sarah Wiseman (in support)

Tree Consultant (for applicant): James Hodson

Supporter: Julie Kennealy

35



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Objector: Suzie Tucker

DECISION: The vote was tied 3 x 3.  The Chairman was entitled to his 
casting vote and the application was refused as recommended.

(b) Hockham: Plot south of 8 Little Hockham Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1392/D  

Erection of house and garage following outline planning permission reference: 
3Pl.2016/0862/O.

This application had been considered at the Planning Committee meeting on 11 
February 2019 as a shadow analysis had been received for consideration by the 
neighbouring properties. 

Consideration was given to the report presented by Mark Simmonds, Principal 
Development Management Planner.  

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further information/representation had been included in the supplementary 
agenda (see page 318).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative : Councillor Philip Cowen (against the 
application)

Applicant: Barry Tredgett

Applicant’s Agent: Andrew Mathews (ADM 
Architectural)

Hockham Parish Council: Aaron Lambert

Objector: Chris Wiltshire

DECISION: Members voted 7 x 1 for approval as recommended.

60/19SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 

(a) Ashill: Dunnetts Close: Reference: 3PL/2018/1089/O  

Outline application for 8 no. dwellings on land north of Dunnetts Close.  All 
matters are reserved except for access.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 319).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
36



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Magnus Magnusson (Parker Planning 
Services)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval, as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and within the 
supplementary report.

(b) Beetley: Flint Cottage, Fakenham Road, East Bilney: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1143/D  

Details of erection of 1 dwelling with integral garage following outline application 
approval 3PL/2017/1452/O. 

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 322).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Richard Duffield (against the 
application)

Parish Council: James Mayhew

Objector: Bryan Leigh on behalf of Steve Boyce

DECISION: Members voted 4 x 2 for approval as recommended, subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report.

(c) Besthorpe: Land at 1 Rookery Cottages, Silver Street: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0157/F  

Erection of new dwelling.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval, as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(d) Besthorpe: White House Farm, White House Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1105/F  

Erection of four detached dwellings on garden plot, demolition of small range of 
outbuildings.

37



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 323).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: John Spencer

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(e) Besthorpe: Cherry Tree Barn, Norwich Road: Reference:  3PL/2019/0229/F  

Erection of two detached three-bedroom dwellings including new vehicular 
access and garages.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(f) Bridgham: Land South of Corner House, Chapel Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0284/F  

Proposed erection of two storey dwelling with detached garage.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Joe Barrow, Planning 
Graduate.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Jon Venning 

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(g) Colkirk: Proposed Development Site, Jarvis Drive: Reference: 3PL/2019/0192/F  

Erection of two dwellings.

38



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval, as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(h) Dereham: Land to the rear of 35-61 Westfield Road: Reference: 
3OB/2019/0010/OB  

Modification of S106 – 3PL/2017/0653/O – Schedule 2 ‘Affordable housing 
Provision’ is the construction & provision of affordable dwellings on the site 
equating to 40% of the total number of dwellings (or such other lower percentage 
as the Council may agree in its absolute discretion).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 324).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: Laura Townes (Permission Homes Anglia)

Dereham Town Council: Tony Needham (Clerk)

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 3 to allow the modification as 
recommended.

(i) Fransham: Land Off Station Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0371/D  

Reserved matters for the erection of 4 dwellings with associated garages 
following outline approval 3PL/2017/0902/O.

Michael Horn, the Solicitor to the Council, left the room while this application was 
discussed.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head 
of Major Projects.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance.

Further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 325) and it was noted that the application had been amended removing 
plots 1 and 2 following receipt of the Ecology Team’s comments.  Reserved 
Matters was now sought for plots 3 and 4 only.

39



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

No representations were made in terms of public speaking in respect of the 
application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval for plots 3 and 4 only; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; plus an additional 
condition restricting the development to plots 3 and 4 only.

(j) Garboldisham: The Grange, The Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0428/O  

Erection of four dwellings and creation of new vehicular access (resubmission of 
previously approved development) – 3PL/2016/0818/O

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A letter from an objector was read aloud.

No representations were made in terms of public speaking in respect of the 
application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval, as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and a note to be included 
on the consent in relation to visitor parking.

(k) Garvestone: Thorncroft, Clematis Nursery, The Lings: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0019/O  

Proposed self-build residential development (3 dwellings).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A further representation had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 117).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Ian Martin (in support)

Applicant: Mr Gooch

Applicant’s Agent: Representative from Parsons & Whittley Ltd

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report;
2. condition 4 being amended as highlighted in the supplementary 

agenda;
3. an additional condition to limit the maximum number of units to 3; 

40



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

and
4. a legal agreement not being required.

(l) Griston: Caston Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0245/F  

Proposed new detached bungalow and garage.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.  He highlighted to Members that the 
ecologist had removed their objection on the basis of suitable information having 
been submitted.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Phil Cowen (against the 
application)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application, as 
recommended, subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(m) Little Dunham: Land adjacent Westcliffe House, Barrows Hole Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0114/F  

Construction of 5 dwellings with associated access drive, parking and amenity 
space.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 327).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant: henry Kilvert

Applicant’s Agent: David Futter

DECISION: Members voted 4 x 2 for approval, contrary to the Officer’s 
recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): the site was in a sustainable location and would make a small 
contribution to the five year housing land supply and the development was 
in character with the street scene.

DECISION: Members voted 4 x 2 to approve the application.

The application be approved subject to:

41



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

1) delegated authority being granted to the Executive Director of Place 
to agree and impose appropriate conditions; and

2) a S106 Agreement to secure a 25% affordable housing contribution.

(n) Old Buckenham:  Land to the north of Fen Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/0231/O  

Erection of 4 detached dwellings.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Nick Moys (Brown & Co)

Parish Council: Jonathan Hicks (Chairman)

Objector: Steve Milner

Objector: John Goode

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 2 for approval as recommended, subject to 
the conditions as listed is the report.

(o) Roudham Larling: Land Opposite Barkers Farm Watton Road, Larling: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/1260/F  

Erection of 3 new dwellings with parking and turning and construction of new 
highways access. 

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 328).

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Sarah Roberts (Roberts Molloy Architects & 
Co)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and the supplementary 
report.

(p) Scarning: Oak Manor: Reference: 3PL/2018/1289/O  

24 assisted care units within the grounds of Oak Manor Care Home, Scarning.

42



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report; and

2. a S106 Agreement to secure 1 no. fire hydrant and library 
contributions.

(q) Scoulton: Cherry Trees, Ellingham Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0139/F  

One new bungalow with garage and a self-contained annexe to the existing 
dwelling.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Naomi Minto, 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Andrew Mathews (ADM Architectural)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended, 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(r) Stow Bedon/Breckles: Wayland Farms Ltd, Cherry Tree Farm: Reference: 
3PL/2017/0878/F  

To expand production to 6990 pigs, demolish some existing buildings (10 no) and 
erect 7 new pig sheds with roof fan ventilation, new roof covering over existing 
manure store.

Councillor Bowes declared an interest in this application due to her being related 
to the applicant.  Councillor Bowes remained in the room but did not take part in 
the discussions and abstained from voting on the matter.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Fiona Hunter Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Phil Cowen (against the 
application)
43



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Applicant: Charles Bowes

Ecologist: Aamer Raza 

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 2 for approval, as recommended plus 1 
abstention subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(s) Swaffham: Land at Princes Street: Reference: 3PL/2018/1199/O  

Erection of up to 60 dwellings with all matters reserved except access.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Swaffham Town Council: Les Scott (against the application)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for refusal, as recommended.

(t) Swaffham: Site Adjacent to Tower View Princes Street: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1437/O  

Proposed residential development.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 330).

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Swaffham Town Council: Les Scott (in support)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval, as recommended 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report and subject to no new 
material considerations being raised during the remainder of the 
consultation period (29/05/2019).

(u) Swaffham: Land to the West of Brandon Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1487/O  

Erection of up to 64 bed care home (Use Class 2), up to 40 assisted living 
dwellings (Use Class C2), 650sqm retail use (Use Class A1-A5), up to 160 
dwellings (Use Class C3) with open space, associated infrastructure and the 
detailed means of access (amended description).

Consideration was given to the application presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
44



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 331).  

A letter of representation was read aloud from Shirley Matthews, Swaffham Town 
Council, who was in support of the application.  

A further document was circulated at the meeting that contained representations 
from local surgeries and medical centres. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Tony Abel (Abel Homes Ltd)

Applicant’s Agent: Paul LeGrice (Abel Homes Ltd)

Swaffham Town Council: Les Scott (against the application)

Objector: Stan Sole

Objector: Helen Rayment

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 2 for approval as recommended; subject to:

1. the completion of a S106 Agreement; 
2. the conditions as listed in the report; 
3. the amended Highways conditions as per the Officer verbal update; 

and
4. delegated authority being granted to the Executive Director of Place 

to resolve and overcome the issue associated with the Health & 
Safety Executive and for an appropriate assessment to be carried 
out.

(v) Watton: Land at Thetford Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0952/O  

This application had been deferred.

(w) Weeting: 1 Cromwell Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1413/F  

Proposed 4 bedroom, one and a half story dwelling at the rear of 1 Cromwell 
Road, Weeting.

Consideration was given to the application presented by Tom Donnelly, 
Development Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Robert Kybird (in support)
45



Planning Committee
28 May 2019

Action By

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report.

(x) Whinburgh&Westfield: Chapel Farm, Dereham Road: Reference: 
3PL/2019/0015/O  

Residential development (five dwellings and garages)

Consideration was given to the application presented by Mark Simmonds, 
Principal Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Further representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 333).

No representations were made in terms of public speaking in respect of the 
application.

DECISION: Members voted 5 x 4 for approval as recommended; subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report.

61/19APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF PLACE 
(AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

62/19APPEALS (FOR INFO) (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 3.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

46



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

GOVERNANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE

Held on Wednesday, 5 June 2019 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr W.P. Borrett (Chairman)
Mr R.G. Kybird (Vice-Chairman)
Mrs E. Grey

Mrs J. James
Mrs L.H. Monument

Also Present
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr J. Plaskett

Mrs F. Haywood

In Attendance
Ross Bangs - Corporate Innovation, Change & 

Performance Manager (shared)
Alison Chubbock - Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 

Officer) (BDC)
Faye Haywood - Internal Audit Manager

Action By

20/19 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 15 February 2019 were 
confirmed as a correct record.

21/19 ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES (IF ANY) (STANDING 
ITEM) 

None.

22/19 APOLOGIES 

An apology was received from Cllr Clarke.

23/19 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

24/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

25/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillor Cowen was in attendance.

47

Agenda Item 11



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

2

Action By

26/19 TRAINING (STANDING ITEM) 

It was discussed the following training would be scheduled and 
available for all Members to attend:

Course Date Venue
Governance & 
Audit Training

11 June  (10.00am – 
11.30am)

Broads Authority 
Office, Yare 
House, 62-64 
Thorpe Road, 
Norwich, 
Norfolk, NR1 
1RY

Governance & 
Audit Training

20 June  (2.00pm – 
3.30pm)

Broads Authority 
Office, Yare 
House, 62-64 
Thorpe Road, 
Norwich, 
Norfolk, NR1 
1RY

Dealing with 
standards cases 
against members

25 July 2019  
(following G&A 
Meeting)

Norfolk Room

Treasury 
Management 
Training 

3 October 2019  
(following G&A 
Meeting)

Norfolk Room

Risk management 
training

tbc tbc

Understanding the 
role of the S151 
Officer

To be provided via a 
brief paper

n/a

Understanding local 
authority financial 
statements

To be provided via a 
briefing paper from 
Ernst Young.

n/a

27/19 UN-AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018-19 

 (a) Update on audit of accounts (verbal update)  

Mr Hodgson informed Members that the Audit of Accounts had 
been originally planned to take place from the 27 May. However 
due to unforeseen circumstances the date had been moved to 
the 1 July.  He apologised for the change of date, but said he 
needed to be able to give full assurances to the Committee to 
approve the accounts.  The Audited Financial Statements 2018-
19 would still be reported at the next meeting of Governance 
and Audit in July.

 (b) Un-audited Statement of Accounts 2018-19  

The Chief Accountant highlighted the salient points of the un-
audited statement of accounts for 2018-19 and the Annual 
Governance Statement to Members.  

48



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

3

Action By

It was noted that following previous comments, the narrative 
report had been made clearer and provided a summary rather 
than figures. 

The Chief Accountant went onto explain the main changes on 
the balance sheet which were as follows:

 Property Plant and Equipment – The lease had come to 
an end on the Eco-Tec Centre and as a result the 
valuation had changed.  

 Investment Property – values had been increased by 
around £5m.  An investment had been made of £2m from 
the Growth & Investment fund to purchase a commercial 
unit. It was noted there had been a trend of increase in 
value for commercial units.

 Provisions Value – had increased to £2m – the reason 
for the increase was due the volatile area of business 
rates appeals.  An example provided was that an appeal 
had been resolved in March of which Breckland Council 
were liable for part of that provision of £600,000 which 
had been back-dated to 2010.

 Pensions Liability – had been increased by £8m to cover 
the level of deficit that the Council would have to 
contribute over the next 20-year period to bring the 
pension contribution to an acceptable level.  

The Annual Governance Statement had been added to the 
report for Members to review and the Committee should be 
comfortable it reflected the audit reports over the last year and 
the assurances that had been given.  The Annual Governance 
Statement would be audited as part of the accounts and 
approved by the Committee in July.

Councillor Kybird asked what the practical implications were of 
the change within the pension liability.  The Chief Accountant 
clarified it was an accounting change and the pension 
contribution would be reviewed in 2020 for budget purposes.  

Mr Plaskett asked for an explanation as to why £3.5m had been 
carried over from the final capital programme budget.  It was 
explained there were a number of projects in progress which 
had been delayed for a number of reasons and therefore would 
be carried over.  

Mr Plaskett sought clarification as to why there was a large 
decrease in the Growth and Commercialisation directorate 
spend, compared to the previous year.  The Chief Accountant 
explained it was due to an increase in commercial property 
values which created a credit in 2018/19 as well as grant funding 
spend in 2017/18 which increased the spend in 2017/18.

It was requested that for clarity the wording under ‘Adjustments 

49



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

4

Action By

to Revenue Resources’ should read ‘Depreciation and Re-
evaluations’.

Mr Plaskett queried why under re-evaluations there was £5m in 
Land showing an increased value and asked why this had not 
been considered to be sold.  The Chief Accountant explained 
there were some small pieces of land that were sellable which 
the Land Management Officer would look to sell to the home 
owner, but there were also pieces of land that were not sellable.  
In addition pieces of land had been set aside in the LABV and 
would be sold to Breckland Bridge as part of the business plan.

Mr Plaskett noted there had been little activity with Breckland 
Bridge and asked for a brief update. The Executive Member for 
Finance and Delivery informed Members that the site for 
development at Attleborough had been significantly delayed due 
to a number of technicalities with Norfolk County Council and 
Department for Education.  Members were advised that there 
were a number of alternative project sites for Breckland Bridge 
that were being considered.  

The Executive Member for Finance and Growth suggested that 
the narrative provided with the Statement of Accounts be 
available to all Members as a standalone document. It was 
agreed that updates to the document be carried out and be 
available to all Members following the next committee meeting in 
July.

RESOLVED that:
1) The committee noted the un-audited statement of 

accounts for 2018-19; and
2) The Annual Governance Statement for 2018-19 was 

reviewed.

28/19 PROGRESS REPORT ON INTERNAL AUDIT ACTIVITY - AUDIT 
PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 2018-19 

The Internal Audit Manager presented the progress report on 
Internal Audit activity from 5 December 2018 to 24 April 2019 in 
relation to the completion of the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 
2018/19. 

Members were reminded that at the committee meeting held on 
the 16 February, the Annual Internal Audit Plan for the year had 
been approved however, since the last report to the Committee in 
December 2018, there had been one significant change to that 
plan.  It related to the Service Desk area where it had been 
decided that Office 365 audit would be deferred to the 2019/20 
internal audit plan.  

A total of nine Internal Audit Services had been carried out 
however three were concluded with a limited assurance opinion – 
Housing Needs; Payroll and HR; and, Procurement and Contract 
Management.  Position statements had been completed with 

50



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

5

Action By

suggested actions and areas of improvement that had been 
outlined within the report.

Mr Plaskett felt concerned that the priorities for Housing Needs 
had not been delivered against management timescales and 
asked how the Committee could gain assurances that they were 
being achieved.  Members heard that the Urgent Priority 
recommendation had been completed however two still remained 
outstanding.  Housing in particular were in a difficult period due to 
resourcing, however Members were assured that management 
were giving it their full attention.

Councillor Kybird asked if the key issues were to do with 
temporary accommodation and if moves were afoot to provide 
facilities to alleviate the pressure.  The Executive Member for 
Finance and Growth responded that the Council had additional 
legislative responsibilities which had given Local Authorities 
additional work with regard to homelessness.  He assured the 
Committee that it was a high priority for Members.

The Chairman asked if there had been recent legislative changes 
to the procurement process.  The Internal Audit Manager clarified 
whilst a total of eight recommendations had been raised during the 
Procurement and Contract Review, six important actions had been 
completed.  Management had moved quickly to implement the 
recommendations which gave assurance to the Audit Team.

It was asked for an explanation as to why Payroll and HR were 
showing limited assurance.  Members were informed that the 
biggest concern had been with regard to the DBS checking; 
however since finalising the report the issue had now been 
resolved.  In addition there had been one important 
recommendation outstanding that outlined issues with the annual 
performance review. 

Mr Plaskett asked if there were plans in place to re-audit the 
Contracts and Procurement Team.  It was confirmed that controls 
in Procurement and Contract Management were very important to 
the Governance framework and therefore due to the limited 
grading given another audit would be carried out in Quarter 4 of 
2019/20.  

RESOLVED that Members reviewed the outcomes of the nine 
audits completed by TIAA, in the period covered by the report, and 
the amendments to the 2018/19 internal audit plan.

29/19 FOLLOW UP ON INTERNAL AUDIT RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Internal Audit Manager presented the report that provided 
Members with the position on the progress made by management 
in implementing agreed Internal Audit recommendations as at 31 
March 2019.

Members were informed that three recommendations remained 

51



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

6

Action By

outstanding from the 2016/2017 audit; 14 remained outstanding 
from 2017/18 and 9 remained outstanding from 2018/19.  
Explanations were covered within the Appendix of the report of 
which internal audit urged management to focus on completion of 
the three outstanding recommendations for 2016/17, together with 
the urgent and important recommendations raised in 2017/18.

Mr Plaskett was disappointed to hear that the actions remained 
outstanding and asked what had been put in place to ensure they 
would be dealt with.

The Chairman also asked if there was a reason why, as an 
example, the Taxi Licence fees had been delayed for two-years 
due to changes in legislation.  It was accepted Members would not 
want Officers to do the task twice within a short period, however it 
was felt that if a recommendation had been made then it should 
be completed in a timely manner.

Members discussed the suggestion that Officers be invited to the 
Committee to explain reasons why recommendations were over-
due.  As a result it was asked that Officers should attend the next 
meeting where the follow-up report is on the agenda for the 
outstanding actions for 2016/2017 and 2017/2018 and provide an 
explanation as to why the delivery had been delayed.

The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager 
advised Members it had also been agreed at the recent 
Performance Board that Officers would be invited to attend the 
Board meetings so the importance to achieve the target date could 
be reinforced.

Members noted the content of the report.  In addition it was 
AGREED that the responsible Officer for any outstanding 
recommendations not achieved by 12-months of the target date 
set be called to the Governance and Audit Committee. 

30/19 ANNUAL REPORT AND OPINION (REPORT ON THE PAST 
YEAR) 2018-19 

The Internal Audit Manager presented the report that provided the 
Council with an Annual Report and Opinion for 2018/2019 drawing 
upon the outcomes of the Internal Audit work performed over the 
course of the year.  

Members were informed that a ‘Reasonable’ audit opinion had 
been given to the Council in relation to Governance, Risk 
management and control for the year ending 31 March 2019.  The 
specific areas of: accounts payable; key controls and assurance, 
service desk and ARP enforcement all received a substantial 
assurance grading.

Councillor Kybird asked how specific items were identified.  
Members were informed that strategic objectives and risks 
identified were discussed at length with each service area and 

52



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

7

Action By

added to the Internal Audit Plan.

RESOLVED that Members note and approve:

1) the contents of the Annual Report and Opinion of the Head 
of Internal Audit.

2) that a reasonable audit opinion has been given in relation 
to governance, risk management and control for the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

3) the opinions expressed together with significant matters 
arising from internal audit work and contained within this 
report should be given due consideration, when developing 
and reviewing the Council’s Annual Governance Statement 
for 2018/19.

4) the conclusions of the Review and the Effectiveness of 
Internal Audit.

31/19 QUARTER 4 RISK REPORT 

Members agreed the Exclusion of Press and Public at this point of 
the meeting (agenda item 15) to enable the Capita Risk Report 
(Agenda item 16) to be discussed with this item.

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

The Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance Manager 
presented the status of the Council’s strategic risks that covered 
the period from January to April 2019.  Out of the 14 risks 
identified, two were considered as high: the risk of a critical ICT 
breach; and, the continued impact following the introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act.

The risk of a breach to ICT security remained high however the 
ICT team continued to take multiple steps to mitigate that risk 
which remained static.

He gave assurance to Members that there was a high focus and 
support given to the Housing team to mitigate the current risk 
following the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
which had resulted in unprecedented levels of demands on the 
team.  Members had also asked for a peer review of the housing 
service which would look to improve ways of working.

Members were informed that whilst they had asked for some risks 
to be removed, it had been decided to keep those risks within the 
report due to a review of all risks and performance indicators 
being carried out.  The Quarter 1 report would then show a robust 
risk register following that review.

Mr Plaskett thanked the Corporate Innovation, Change & 

53



Governance & Audit Committee
5 June 2019

8

Action By

Performance Manager for the work on the risk register and 
Members noted that the comments with in the report were much 
more salient than had been in the past.

Members asked that the following amendments be made to the 
risk register:

 Homelessness Reduction target date should be amended;
 Medium Term Financial Plan should be updated to reflect 

the deliverables achieved;

Members noted the contents of the report.

32/19 WORK PROGRAMME 

Members asked that the Training discussed be added to the work 
programme.

Councillor Kybird asked if the Constitution should be reviewed by 
the Governance and Audit Committee.  The Chairman requested a 
response before the date of the next meeting.

In addition, it was asked if Members of the Committee could 
receive training on their role in dealing with standards complaints.  
Training would be arranged and added to the work programme.

33/19 NEXT MEETING 

Members confirmed that the dates for all future meetings for 
2019/20.

The arrangements for the next meeting to be held on Thursday 25 
July at 10.00am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House were 
noted.

34/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

See Minute no: 31/19.

35/19 QUARTER 4 RISK REPORT 

See Minute no: 31/19.

The meeting closed at 11.40 am

CHAIRMAN

54



As at 16 May 2019

APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES 
2019 / 2020

Committee/Organisation Members

Anglia Revenues & Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee
(Executive Appointments)

Cllr Phil Cowen (Con)

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (substitute) (Con)

Cllr Paul Claussen (substitute) (Con)

Governance & Audit Committee 

Constitution: 6 Members
Political Balance Conservative 5 seats 

Labour 1 seat

Plus one independent, non-voting co-optee

(Cannot include Executive Members)

(The Chairman of G&A cannot be a Member of the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission (O&SC) and no more 
than two Members may also serve on the O&SC)

Cllr Bill Borrett (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Robert Kybird (Vice-Chair) (Con)

Cllr Harry Clarke (Lab)

Cllr Kay Grey (Con)

Cllr Jane James (Con)

Cllr Linda Monument (Con)

Cllr Richard Duffield (substitute) (Con)

VACANCY (substitute) (Labour) 
Plus one independent, non-voting co-optee

Joint Appointments & Disciplinary Committee
Constitution: 6 Members, consisting of 3 Members from 
Breckland Council and 3 Members from South Holland 
District Council plus 3 named substitutes (3 from each 
Council).

Political Balance:

(Members cannot also serve on the Joint Appointments & 
Disciplinary Appeals Committee)

Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen (Con)

Cllr Paul Claussen (Con)

Cllr Terry Jermy (Lab)

Cllr Mark Robinson (substitute) (Con) 

Cllr Alison Webb (substitute) (Con)

VACANCY (substitute) (Labour)

Joint Appointment & Disciplinary Appeals 
Committee (tbc)
Constitution: 8 Members, consisting of 4 Members from 
Breckland Council and 4 Members from South Holland 
District Council.

Political Balance: 

(Members cannot also serve on the Joint Appointments & 
Disciplinary Committee)

Cllr Bill Borrett (Con)

Cllr Phil Cowen (Con)

Cllr Ian Sherwood (Con)

VACANCY (Labour)

Cllr Harry Clarke (substitute) (Lab)

Cllr Gordon Bambridge (substitute) (Con)

55

Agenda Item 12



As at 16 May 2019

Committee/Organisation Members

Licensing Committee/Committee of the Licensing 
Authority

Constitution: 15 Members 
Political Balance: 11 Conservative seats

 2 Labour seats
 1 Green seat
 1 Other 

(no subs required)

Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Keith Martin (Vice-Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Tristan Ashby (Con)

Cllr Steve Askew (Con)

Cllr Claire Bowes (Con)

Cllr Roy Brame (Con)

Cllr Mike Brindle (Lab)

Cllr Trevor Carter (Con)

Cllr Vera Dale (Con)

Cllr Susan Dowling (Lab)

Cllr Richard Duffield (Con)

Cllr Tina Kiddell (Con)

Cllr Linda Monument (Con)

Cllr Taila Taylor (Ind)

Cllr Philip Morton (Green)

Member Development Panel

Political Balance: N/A

Members to be confirmed

Overview & Scrutiny Commission

Constitution: 12 Members, 
Political Balance Conservative 9 seats 

Labour 1 seat
*Others 2 seats

*(Green Party entitled to a seat on either Planning or OSC)

(Cannot include Executive Members)

(The Chairman of Governance & Audit Committee cannot 
be a Member of the O&SC)

Cllr Rhodri Oliver (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Lynda Turner (Vice-Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Hilary Bushell (Con)

Cllr Ed Colman (Con)

Cllr Fabian Eagle (Con)

Cllr Terry Jermy (Labour)

Cllr Mark Kiddle-Morris (Con)

Cllr Robert Kybird (Con)

Cllr Ian Martin (Con)

Cllr Mike Nairn (Con)

Cllr David Wickerson (Ind)

Cllr Tim Birt (Green)

Cllr Claire Bowes (substitute) (Con)

Cllr Harry Clarke (substitute) (Labour)

Cllr Peter Wilkinson (substitute) (Con)

Cllr Roger Atterwill (substitute) (Ind)

Cllr Philip Morton (substitute) (Green)

56



As at 16 May 2019

Planning Committee

Constitution: 12 Members 
Political Balance: Conservative 9 seats

Labour 1 seat
*Others 2 seats

*(Green Party entitled to a seat on either Planning or OSC)

Cllr Nigel Wilkin (Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Peter Wilkinson (Vice-Chairman) (Con)

Cllr Roger Atterwill (Ind)

Cllr Claire Bowes (Con)

Cllr Roy Brame (Con)

Cllr Marion Chapman-Allen (Con)

Cllr Harry Clarke (Labour)

Cllr Helen Crane (Con)

Cllr Philip Duigan (Con)

Cllr Keith Gilbert (Ind)

Cllr Keith Martin (Con)

Cllr Sarah Suggitt (Con)

Cllr Mike Brindle (substitute) (Lab)

Cllr Hilary Bushell (substitute) (Con)

Cllr Mark Kiddle-Morris (substitute) (Con) 

VACANCIES (substitute x 2) (Ind)

57



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Deputy Leader and Executive Member for Governance, Executive Member 
for Planning, and Executive Director Strategy and Governance   

To: Full Council – 18 July 2019

Author: Jacqui Berridge - Lawyer

Subject: Constitution – Determination of Planning Applications

Purpose: To consider the decision of the Planning Committee to amend the existing 
delegations to officers in relation to the determination of planning 
applications   

Recommendation(s): 

1) That paragraph 3 of Part 3 Section F3 of the Constitution be amended as shown in Appendix 
A in order to extend the current scheme of delegation to officers to determine planning 
applications, including the establishment of a Chairman’s Panel, in accordance with the 
decision of the Planning Committee held on 8 April 2019; and 

2) That the additional minor changes shown in Appendix B also be approved.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1  Under Article 14 of the Council’s Constitution, changes to the Constitution may only be 
approved by the full Council unless, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a 
change is:

(a) a minor variation; or
(b) required to be made to remove any inconsistency or ambiguity; or
(c) required to be made so as to put into effect any decision of the Council or its 
committees or the Cabinet,

in which case the Monitoring Officer may make such a change and such change shall 
come into force with immediate effect but shall (unless a minor typographical, referencing 
or numbering change) be referred to full Council as soon as is reasonably possible and 
shall continue to have effect only if full Council agree. Minor typographical, referencing 
and numbering changes shall not require the approval of full Council.

1.2 This report relates to a decision made by the Planning Committee at its meeting on 8 April 
2019 to amend the existing scheme of delegation to officers, and to establish a 
Chairman’s Panel.  This decision necessitates changes to the Constitution. As described 
in paragraph 1.1(c) above, these changes may be made by the Monitoring Officer 
immediately, but the changes must be referred to full Council and shall continue to have 
effect only if full Council agrees the changes.

2.0 PLANNING COMMITTEE DECISION 

2.1 Local authorities make numerous decisions every day, and in order to ensure efficiency in 
the making of such decisions local authorities have power to arrange for the discharge of 

58

Agenda Item 13a



any of their functions to officers.  This is usually in compliance with approved policies 
and/or procedures.  

2.2 In spring 2018 the Council was subject to a Peer Review of the Planning Committee 
undertaken by the Local Government Association and the Planning Advisory Service.  The 
Peer Review recommended, amongst other things, that the Council should regularly 
review delegations to officers to determine planning applications, and the ability of 
councillors to request applications to be submitted to the Planning Committee for 
determination (called “Planning Committee call-in”), with a view to finding a balance 
between officer delegations and the opportunity for non-major but controversial 
applications to be submitted to Committee for consideration.   The Planning Committee at 
its meeting on 8 April 2019 considered these recommendations.

2.3 Part 3 Section F3 of the Council’s Constitution (Delegations to Executive Directors) sets 
out the functions relating to planning applications that are currently delegated to officers 
by the Planning Committee.  The report submitted to the Planning Committee on 8 April 
2019 explained the processes involved when planning applications were determined by 
the Planning Committee, and when they were determined by officers with delegated 
authorityThe report also highlighted the percentage of planning applications determined 
under delegated powers nationally (94%), within Norfolk (between 92% and 96%), and at 
South Holland District Council (93%).  Breckland Council, at 88%, was significantly below 
these figures.

2.4 Whilst it was essential that appropriate planning applications were submitted to the 
Planning Committee, applications submitted to Committee were more expensive to deal 
with and took longer to process than applications dealt with by officers under delegated 
powers. The Peer Review had therefore concluded that an exception policy might be 
appropriate where all applications were delegated to officers unless certain criteria were 
met.  With this in mind the Planning Committee considered the following options which 
were described fully in the report to the Planning Committee; 

 Option A – high level of delegation – all planning applications are dealt with by 
officers unless they are called-in or they trigger a small list of criteria, and including 
the establishment of a Chairman’s Panel 

 Option B – medium level of delegation – all planning applications are dealt with by 
officers unless they are called-in or they trigger a larger list of criteria that would 
require applications recommended for approval to be referred to the Planning 
Committee automatically and including the establishment of a Chairman’s Panel

 Option C – low level of delegation – maintaining the existing position but subject to 
the establishment of a Chairman’s Panel 

2.5 The Planning Committee resolved to introduce Option A, which would have the effect of 
amending the current delegations detailed at Part 3 Section F3 of the Constitution as 
shown at Appendix A.  The proposed amendments clarify that a standardised Planning 
Committee call-in form would be used to ensure that all referrals to the Planning 
Committee were dealt with in a standardised way, and the purpose of the proposed 
Chairman’s Panel was explained as part of the proposed amendments. 

2.6 If the Council agrees the variations detailed in Appendix A, some further minor changes to 
the Constitution will also be required as shown in Appendix B.

59



3.0         OPTIONS

3.1   That the Constitution be amended, as shown at Appendix A and Appendix B to this report, 
to take into account the decision of the Planning Committee at its meeting on 8 April 2019 
to adopt Option A.  This option is recommended.

3.2 That the Constitution is not amended.  This option is not recommended.  If members do 
not agree to the proposed amendments then the matter will need to be referred back to 
the Planning Committee for further consideration.  

4.0         REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

4.1   The Planning Committee considered the outcome of a Peer Review of the Planning 
Committee which, amongst other things, recommended changes to the Council’s existing 
scheme of delegation, and referred to the introduction of a Chairman’s Panel, in order to 
make the planning service more efficient and effective.

4.2 It is recommended that the Constitution be amended to take account of the decision of the 
Planning Committee to adopt Option A as described in the report to the Planning 
Committee held on 8 April 2019, which will deliver the recommendations of the Peer 
Review. 

5.0         EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1 If approved, the changes to the Constitution will allow more planning applications to be 
dealt with by officers under the scheme of delegation, whilst still allowing members to 
request that appropriate applications be submitted to the Planning Committee for 
consideration.  This will allow the planning service to be delivered in a more effective and 
efficient manner whilst still enabling contentious applications to be submitted to the 
Planning Committee for consideration. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; Constitutional 
& Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other. Where the report 
author considers that there may be implications under one or more of these headings, 
these are identified below.

6.1   Constitution & Legal

6.1.1  Any amendments to the Constitution approved by the Planning Committee must be 
agreed by full Council. 

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All 

8.0        ACRONYMS 

8.1  n/a 

60



Background papers:- Report to Planning Committee held on 8 April 2019 entitled 
“Revisions to the Scheme of Delegations” and associated minute 
47/19 which can be found on the Council’s website 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jacqui Berridge 
Telephone Number: 01775 764518
Email: Jacqui.berridge@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Proposed amendments to Part 3 Section F3 of the Constitution arising from the 
decision of the Planning Committee held on 8 April 2019 to extend the scheme of 
delegation to officers and to introduce a Chairman’s Panel. 

Appendix B Further amendments to Part 3 Section D of the Constitution – Delegations to 
Committees    

 

61



APPENDIX A 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO PART 3 SECTION F3 OF THE CONSTITUTION ARISING 
FROM THE DECISION OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD ON 8 APRIL 2019 TO EXTEND 
THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS AND TO INTRODUCE A CHAIRMAN’S PANEL

Proposed amendments to Paragraph 3 of Part 3 of Section F3

(Amendments are shown in bold underlined italics and strikethrough) 

“3. Specific Delegations

Power for the Executive Director in charge of Planning & Development Control as follows:

Planning Applications

(i) To determine all Planning Applications (as defined below) (except Major Applications and 
Significant Applications as defined below) where the Executive Director considers that, on balance, 
and after taking into account all material considerations including Human Rights Act issues, the 
decision would be in compliance overall with national planning policies and guidance, and the 
policies contained in the Local Plan and any Neighbourhood Plans.

The above power is subject to the following:

a) A weekly list being provided to all Members containing details of Planning Applications received.

b) The right for a Ward Member in relation to their own or an adjoining Ward and the Chairman of 
Planning Committee jointly (i.e. if both are in agreement) to require a Planning Application to be 
referred to and decided by the Planning Committee if the following conditions are met:

 A Councillor Planning Committee call-in form must be submitted to 
CllrPlanningEnquriies@breckland.gov.uk completed written notice must be received 
from the Ward Member by the Executive Director or Principal Planning Officer within 
23 days of the publication of that application on the weekly list requesting the 
referral of the application to the Committee.

 The request only to have effect if it contains proper planning reasons for 
consideration by Committee.

 The Chairman of Planning Committee must agree that the proposed referral to the 
Committee is appropriate.  

c) Those applications which, in the opinion of the Executive Director and Chairman of 
Planning Committee, are of particular sensitivity locally can be referred to the Planning 
Committee for determination   

d) All applications submitted by or on behalf of the Council being referred to the Planning 
Committee for determination subject to f) below. 

e) All applications by Members or Officers of the Council (where the Executive Director is 
aware that the application is by or on behalf of a Member or Officer) being referred to the 
Planning Committee for determination subject to f) below. 

62

mailto:CllrPlanningEnquriies@breckland.gov.uk


f) Chairman’s Panel:

Officers can consult with the Chairman’s Panel to obtain a view on whether the 
application can be determined under delegated powers. The Panel is not a decision-
making body but it has the power to agree for planning applications that would 
otherwise have to be referred to the committee to be dealt with under delegated 
powers if the proposal is not controversial, and (in the view of the Panel) there are no 
other reasons that it should be heard in a public forum.  

The panel can also be used as a consultative body to allow officers to seek a view on 
whether applications, that would otherwise be dealt with under delegated powers, 
represent (in the view of the Panel) planning related impacts that would merit the 
proposal being heard in a public forum.

The Chairman's Panel shall comprise of a minimum of three Planning Committee 
members (including Substitute Planning Committee members) and include the 
Chairman of the Planning Committee or (in their absence) the Vice Chairman of the 
Planning Committee. There is no maximum level of participants but when the panel 
is convened with an even number of participants, the Chairman would retain the 
casting vote.

The panel shall be convened on an ad-hoc basis as required. Membership can 
change dependant on the availability of qualifying Councillors and will be 
determined through consultation between officers and the Chairman of the Planning 
Committee (or the Vice Chairman in their absence). The panel can either be 
consulted through a meeting or via exchange of correspondence.

c) “Planning Applications” for the purposes of these delegations include
 applications, notifications or consultations in connection with the following:
 applications for or in connection with planning permissions (including those for 

amendments),
 applications for permission in principle and associated technical details consent,
 advertisement consents,
 listed buildings,
 conservation area consents,
 demolitions,
 overhead power lines,
 telecommunications,
 applications or notifications from public authorities,
 agricultural notifications,
 minor amendments
 variation or removal of conditions

d) “Major Applications” for the purposes of these delegations are defined as those 
proposals for:
 10 or more dwellings
 Residential development on sites of 0.5 hectares or more
 The provision of a building or buildings where the floor space to be created by the 

development is 1,000 square metres or more
 Development carried out on a site having an area of one hectare or more

e) “Significant Applications” will include those which

63



 officers may wish to approve which are contrary to policy
 those which, in the opinion of the Executive Director and Chairman of Planning 

Committee, are of particular sensitivity locally
 applications submitted by the Council
 all applications by Members or Officers of the Council (where the Executive Director 

is aware that the application is by or on behalf of a Member or Officer).

g) The Vice-Chairman of the Planning Committee can exercise the powers of the Chairman 
under 1B above in the absence or unavailability of the Chairman. 

64



APPENDIX B 

FURTHER AMENDMENTS TO PART 3 SECTION D OF THE CONSTITUTION - DELEGATIONS 
TO COMMITTEES

DELEGATIONS TO COMMITTEES (NON-EXECUTIVE FUNCTIONS)

Planning
Committee

12 Members
(Quorum 4)
(SO No. 38)

1. To carry out any of the Council’s functions under town and country
planning development legislation including all town and country
planning and development functions listed at Schedule 1 to the 2000
Regulations and high hedges issues listed at the said Schedule 1
other than:
(a) those reserved to full Council,
(b) Powers reserved to the Executive as specified by legislation
from time to time.

2. The following function, detailed at Schedule 2 of the 2000
Regulations, is reserved to the Planning Committee:-

1. The obtaining of information under section 330 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land
2. To consider objections to Tree Preservation Orders
3. To confirm or refuse to confirm opposed Tree Preservation orders
4. To determine applications to pollard or fell trees which are
considered by the relevant Director after consultation with the
relevant Cabinet Member to be of extreme public importance or
likely to set a precedent for applications
5. Where an item included on an agenda of a meeting of the
Planning Committee relates specifically to a ward of the district
that a ward member although not being a member of the
Committee, may nevertheless attend that meeting and take part in
any debate on the item, but not vote on them.

3. The functions of this Committee also include:
 Public Footpaths, Bridleways and Highways
 Commons
 Functions relating to public rights of way (in so far as they 

relate to District Council functions)
 Powers relating to the protection of important hedgerows
 Powers relating to the preservation of trees

Chairman’s Panel 

Officers can consult with the Chairman’s Panel to obtain a view 
on whether any planning application can be determined by 
officers under delegated powers.  The Panel is not a decision-
making body but it has the power to agree for planning 
applications that would otherwise have to be referred to the 
Committee to be dealt with under delegated powers if the 
proposal is not controversial, and (in the view of the Panel) there 
are no other reasons that it should be heard in a public forum. 
The Panel can also be used as a consultative body to allow 
officers to seek a view on whether any planning applications, 
that would otherwise be dealt with under delegated powers, 

65



represent (in the view of the Panel) planning related impacts that 
would merit the proposal being heard in a public forum.

The Chairman's Panel comprises a minimum of three Planning 
Committee members (including Substitute Planning Committee 
members) and includes the Chairman of the Planning Committee 
or (in their absence) the Vice Chairman of the Planning 
Committee. There is no maximum level of participants but when 
the Panel is convened with an even number of participants, the 
Chairman retains the casting vote.

The Panel shall be convened on an ad-hoc basis as required. 
Membership can change dependent on the availability of 
qualifying Councillors and will be determined through 
consultation between officers and the Chairman of the Planning 
Committee (or the Vice Chairman in their absence). The Panel 
can either be consulted through a meeting or via exchange of 
correspondence.

66



Document is Restricted

67

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

72

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

74

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

81

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

82

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

84

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

90

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

91

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

92

By virtue of paragraph(s) 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Chairman's Announcements
	8a 21 May 2019
	Minutes

	8b 25 June 2019
	Minutes

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	10 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	11 Governance & Audit Committee
	Minutes

	12 Nominations for Committee and other Seats
	13a Constitution - Planning Delegations
	15 Appointment of an Information Governance Officer
	Appendix 1- Pro Forma B
	Appendix 1- Pro Forma B

	16 Public Protection Management Team Review
	Appendix A Existing Structure
	Appendix B Proposed Structure
	Appendix C Proforma B

	17 Digital and Innovation Service Review
	Appendix A for Digital Innovation & Customer Service review
	Appendix B for Digital Innovation & Customer Service review
	Appendix C for Digital Innovation & Customer Service review


